
 
 
 
 

 
Telephone: 0151 529 2355/ 0151 706 3149 

Email: FOIRequests@liverpoolft.nhs.uk 
 

03 April 2020 
Our Ref: MW/AW/FOI6813       
 
 
 
Dear Applicant, 
 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 – Request for Information Reference: 6813 
 

Further to your request for information received 28 February 2020 and clarification of the 
same on 6 March 2020. Please find the Trust’s response below. 
 
On 1st October 2019, Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was created, 
through the merger of Aintree University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Royal 
Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust. Therefore, this response is for 
all sites. 
 
Response from Aintree University Hospital: 

 
Part 1  
1. What appointment booking and reminder system(s) does the Trust use, providing in each case: 
Clarification: This relates to outpatient appointment booking and reminder systems. 
a. name of system and name of supplier  
Sigma: is the Hospital’s patient administration system and is used to book patient appointments. 
DrDoctor: sends a text reminder for the appointments. 
b. contract start and end dates 
Sigma: Newly extended to 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2021 
DrDoctor: October 2018 to October 2021.  
c. £K contract value per annum 

Sigma: There is no specific cost held in relation to the appointment booking provision. Please be 
advised the cost for the patient booking system is incorporated into the overall patient 
administration system and cannot be disaggregated. 
DrDoctor: Please see statement below. 
 
I can confirm that Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) does hold the 
information you have requested, however this information is being withheld under the following 
exemption of the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA): - Section 43 (2) Commercial interests.  
 
Section 43(2) protects information which would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of 
any person (including the public authority holding it).  
In applying section 43 we have balanced the public interest in withholding the information against 
the public interest in disclosing it.  
 
The use of this exemption was carefully considered. The factors in favour of disclosure of this 
information, including the general public interest and greater transparency and accountability, were 
carefully weighed against the need to allow business-people and commercial organisations the 
space to conduct their lawful business competitively and without fear of disclosure of sensitive 
commercial information.  
 
We consider that this transparency also poses risks to the protection of commercially confidential 
information.  
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Failure to protect such commercially sensitive information would limit the sources of procurement 
available.  
Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has carried out a public interest test and have 
based our decision on:  

 Disclosure would assist the promotion of openness and transparency in our decisions and in 
our spending of public money  

 The cost relates to a specific service which would disclose the third party’s pricing for supplying 
such  

 It would therefore be likely to unfairly disadvantage their commercial interests when competing 
for future public sector and private sector contracts  

 The contracted costs are specifically negotiated to the individual requirements of the Trust and 
the services by the third party  

 We do not consider it to be in the public interest that companies entering into business 
arrangements with public authorities should be commercially prejudiced as a result  

 We also do not consider it to be in the public interest that the Trust’s commercial interests are 
prejudiced when procuring future appointment booking and reminder software solutions and 
services from private sector organisations.  

 
To publish their individual pricing for supplying specialised appointment booking and reminder 
software solutions and services for a large organisation such as Liverpool University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust is highly likely to be of value to their competitors. In this case after such 
consideration we believe that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in its release. However the Trust can confirm the current contract value with DrDoctor is 
between £150K & £200K. 
 
2. How much is spent per annum on sending appointment letters? 
Clarification: This relates to outpatient appointment letters. 

 Please be advised the cost for outpatient letters is incorporated into the overall postage 
costs and cannot be disaggregated. In accordance with Section 1 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (FOIA), I can confirm that the Trust does not record the above 
information.  
Under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Trust is not required to create any 
information in order to answer a request.  
I should explain that the FOIA 2000 is in relation to transparency of information held by public 
authorities. It gives an individual the right to access recorded information held by public 
authorities.  
The FOIA 2000 does not require public authorities to generate information, or to answer 
questions, provide explanations or give opinions, unless this is recorded information that they 
already hold. 

 
3. How much is spent on SMS text messages per annum for appointment reminders?  

 £64.8K on text reminders for patients per year.  
 
4. How many DNAs were there for 2018/2019 and what did this cost the Trust? 
Clarification: This relates to outpatient DNAs. 

 2018/19: 60,760* Outpatient DNA’s 
*The above figures include outpatient clinic appointments, not booking for diagnostic tests or 
day case procedures.  

 As all outpatients appointments are part of the overall Trust contract; we do not hold 
information in relation to the cost of DNAs to the Trust. In accordance with Section 1 of the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), I can confirm that the Trust does not record the 
above information. Under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Trust is not 
required to create any information in order to answer a request.  
I should explain that the FOIA 2000 is in relation to transparency of information held by public 
authorities. It gives an individual the right to access recorded information held by public 
authorities.  
The FOIA 2000 does not require public authorities to generate information, or to answer 
questions, provide explanations or give opinions, unless this is recorded information that they 
already hold. 

 



 
 
5. Who in the Trust is responsible for the appointment booking and reminder system(s), by Name, 
Job Title and email address? 

 The Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust must take a balanced view of 
an individual's right to confidentiality versus the public interest in releasing any 
information that would identify them. 
The Trust has a legal responsibility to balance confidentiality with public interest, and 
on this occasion, the Trust has concluded there is no public interest in the names being 
released. 
This information is therefore being withheld under Section 40(2) of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 on the grounds that it is personal information. 

 
If you wish to contact a member of staff please send your correspondence to 
FOIRequests@liverpoolft.nhs.uk and your email will be forwarded onto the relevant 
department/staff member. 

 
Alternatively you can visit the Trust’s webpage for contact details 
http://www.aintreehospital.nhs.uk/contact-us/  

 
Part 2 
6. What e-rostering and bank staffing system(s) does the Trust use, providing in each case: 
a. name of system and name of supplier 

 Allocate 

 Patchwork 
b. contract start and end dates  

 Allocate: November 2018 to 30/06/2020  

 Patchwork: January 2019 to January 2021 
c. £K contract value per annum 
The annual contract values with the suppliers Allocate and Patchwork is commercially sensitive. To 
release this information would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of the suppliers & the 
Trust. 
 
I can confirm that Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust does hold the information 
you have requested, however this information is being withheld under the following exemption of 
the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA): - Section 43 (2) Commercial interests.  
 
Section 43(2) protects information which would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of 
any person (including the public authority holding it).  
 
In applying section 43 we have balanced the public interest in withholding the information against 
the public interest in disclosing it.  
 
The use of this exemption was carefully considered. The factors in favour of disclosure of this 
information, including the general public interest and greater transparency and accountability, were 
carefully weighed against the need to allow business-people and commercial organisations the 
space to conduct their lawful business competitively and without fear of disclosure of sensitive 
commercial information.  
 
We consider that this transparency also poses risks to the protection of commercially confidential 
information.  
 
Failure to protect such commercially sensitive information would limit the sources of procurement 
available.  
 
Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has carried out a public interest test and have 
based our decision on:  

 Disclosure would assist the promotion of openness and transparency in our decisions and in 
our spending of public money  
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 The cost relates to a specific service which would disclose the third party’s pricing for supplying 
such  

 It would therefore be likely to unfairly disadvantage their commercial interests when competing 
for future public sector and private sector contracts  

 We do not consider it to be in the public interest that companies entering into business 
arrangements with public authorities should be commercially prejudiced as a result  

 We also do not consider it to be in the public interest that our commercial interests are 
prejudiced when procuring future software solutions from private sector organisations.  

 
To publish their individual pricing for supplying specialised bank staffing/ booking solution software 
for a large organisation such as Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is highly 
likely to be of value to their competitors. In this case after such consideration we believe that the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in its release.  
 
However we can confirm some annual contract values as set out below:  
The annual spend with Allocate for Aintree University Hospital only is between £150K & £160K.  
The annual spend with Patchwork for Aintree University Hospital only is between £90K & £100K.  
 
7. How much is spent on SMS text messages per annum for bank staffing?  

 The spend on SMS texting is included in the contract amount so nothing more is spent. 
 
8. Who in the Trust is responsible for bank staffing system, by Name, Job Title and email address? 

 Please see response to question five. 
 
Part 3  
9. What long and short range paging system does the Trust use, providing: 
a. name of system and name of supplier  

 Short range paging: Stanley. 

 We can confirm we do not use Long range paging. 
 
b. contract start and end dates 

 A five year contract will begin 01/04/2020. 
 
c. £K contract value per annum 

 £51,000 
 
10. Is the Trust actively considering reducing paging costs by the use of mobile apps? 

 Yes, the new contract will provision this. 
 
11. Who in the Trust is responsible for the paging system, by Name, Job Title and email address? 

 Please see response to question five. 
 
Part 4 
12. What systems does the Trust use for: 
a. PBX 
Clarification: The PBX is the type of system that your phones link into, eg. Cisco, Skype for 
Business, ISDX 

 Cisco and Siemens ISDX 
 
b. How many extensions do you have? 

 Approx 7000 
 
13. What systems does the Trust use for: Switchboard / Operator Console 

 ARC and BTS 
 
a. How many positions do you use? 

 15 
 
b. What is the Annual Contract/Maintenance value? 

 These are included within the overall Cisco IPT costs and cannot be disaggregated. 



 
14. What systems does the Trust use for: Contact Centre   

 Cisco UCCX 
 
a. How many seats are in use? 
Clarification: The seats is the maximum number of people you have manning the contact centre. 

 150 

 
b. What is the Annual Contract/Maintenance value? 

 These are included within the overall Cisco IPT costs and cannot be disaggregated 
 
15. What systems does the Trust use for: Speech Recognition Auto Attendant and what is the 
Annual Contract/Maintenance value? 

 No system in place. 
 
16. What systems does the Trust use for: Staff Directory  

 BTE and Proteus 

 
17. What systems does the Trust use for: Call Logging 

 BTE and Proteus 

 
18. Who in the Trust is responsible for these telecoms systems, by Name, Job Title, email 
address? 

 Please see response to question five. 

 
Response from Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals: 

 
Part 1  
1. What appointment booking and reminder system(s) does the Trust use, providing in each case: 
Clarification: This relates to outpatient appointment booking and reminder systems. 
a. name of system and name of supplier  

 I.PM is the Hospital’s patient administration system and is used to book patient appointments. 

 Envoy is our patient reminder system 

 
b. contract start and end dates 

 I.PM Start Date July 2016 End Date July 2021 

 Envoy Start Date October 2016. End Date April 2020 

 
c. £K contract value per annum 

 I.PM: There is no specific cost held in relation to the appointment booking provision. Please 

be advised the cost for the patient booking system is incorporated into the overall 
patient administration system and cannot be disaggregated. 

 Envoy contract value per annum is £50,108  

 
2. How much is spent per annum on sending appointment letters? 
Clarification: This relates to outpatient appointment letters. 

 Please be advised the cost for outpatient letters is incorporated into the overall postage 

costs and cannot be disaggregated. 
 
3. How much is spent on SMS text messages per annum for appointment reminders?  

 £46,357 (Text & automated call reminder) 
 
4. How many DNAs were there for 2018/2019 and what did this cost the Trust? 
Clarification: This relates to outpatient DNAs. 

 2018/19 – 73,558* 
*The above figures include outpatient clinic appointments, not booking for diagnostic tests or 
day case procedures.  

 As all outpatients appointments are part of the overall Trust contract; we do not hold 
information in relation to the cost of DNAs to the Trust. In accordance with Section 1 of the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), I can confirm that the Trust does not record the 



above information. Under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Trust is not 
required to create any information in order to answer a request.  

I should explain that the FOIA 2000 is in relation to transparency of information held by 
public authorities. It gives an individual the right to access recorded information held by 
public authorities.  
The FOIA 2000 does not require public authorities to generate information, or to 
answer questions, provide explanations or give opinions, unless this is recorded 
information that they already hold. 
 

5. Who in the Trust is responsible for the appointment booking and reminder system(s), by Name, 
Job Title and email address? 

The Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust must take a balanced view of an 
individual's right to confidentiality versus the public interest in releasing any information 
that would identify them. 
The Trust has a legal responsibility to balance confidentiality with public interest, and on 
this occasion, the Trust has concluded there is no public interest in the names being 
released. 
This information is therefore being withheld under Section 40(2) of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 on the grounds that it is personal information. 
 
If you wish to contact a member of staff please send your correspondence to 
FOIRequests@liverpoolft.nhs.uk and your email will be forwarded onto the relevant 
department/staff member. 
 
Alternatively you can visit the Trust’s webpage for contact details 
https://www.rlbuht.nhs.uk/contact-us/  
 
Part 2 
6. What e-rostering and bank staffing system(s) does the Trust use, providing in each case: 
a. name of system and name of supplier  

 Allocate 

 Kronos Roster Pro 
b. contract start and end dates 

 Allocate: 31/08/2018 to 31/08/2021 

 Kronos Roster Pro: No longer in contract.  Support and maintenance only. 
c. £K contract value per annum 
 
The annual contract values with the suppliers for Allocate is commercially sensitive. To release this 
information would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of the suppliers & the Trust. 
 
I can confirm that Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust does hold the information 
you have requested, however this information is being withheld under the following exemption of 
the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA): - Section 43 (2) Commercial interests.  
 
Section 43(2) protects information which would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of 
any person (including the public authority holding it).  
 
In applying section 43 we have balanced the public interest in withholding the information against 
the public interest in disclosing it.  
 
The use of this exemption was carefully considered. The factors in favour of disclosure of this 
information, including the general public interest and greater transparency and accountability, were 
carefully weighed against the need to allow business-people and commercial organisations the 
space to conduct their lawful business competitively and without fear of disclosure of sensitive 
commercial information.  
 
We consider that this transparency also poses risks to the protection of commercially confidential 
information.  
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Failure to protect such commercially sensitive information would limit the sources of procurement 
available.  
 
Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has carried out a public interest test and have 
based our decision on:  

 Disclosure would assist the promotion of openness and transparency in our decisions and in 
our spending of public money  

 The cost relates to a specific service which would disclose the third party’s pricing for supplying 
such  

 It would therefore be likely to unfairly disadvantage their commercial interests when competing 
for future public sector and private sector contracts  

 We do not consider it to be in the public interest that companies entering into business 
arrangements with public authorities should be commercially prejudiced as a result  

 We also do not consider it to be in the public interest that our commercial interests are 
prejudiced when procuring future software solutions from private sector organisations.  

 
To publish their individual pricing for supplying specialised bank staffing/ booking solution software 
for a large organisation such as Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is highly 
likely to be of value to their competitors. In this case after such consideration we believe that the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in its release.  
 
However we can confirm the annual spend with Kronos Roster Pro for Royal Liverpool & 
Broadgreen University Hospitals only is £30K. 
 
7. How much is spent on SMS text messages per annum for bank staffing?  

 £0 
 
8. Who in the Trust is responsible for bank staffing system, by Name, Job Title and email address? 

 Please see response to question five. 
 
Part 3  
9. What long and short range paging system does the Trust use, providing: 
a. name of system and name of supplier  

 We can confirm we do not use Long range paging  

 Stanley Blick short range paging 
 
b. contract start and end dates 

 A five year contract will begin 01/04/2020 
 
c. £K contract value per annum 

 £51,000 
 
10. Is the Trust actively considering reducing paging costs by the use of mobile apps? 

 Yes.  New contract will provision this 
 
11. Who in the Trust is responsible for the paging system, by Name, Job Title and email address? 

 Please see response to question five. 
 
Part 4 
12. What systems does the Trust use for: 
a. PBX 
Clarification: The PBX is the type of system that your phones link into, eg. Cisco, Skype for 
Business, ISDX 

 Cisco and Siemens ISDX 
 
b. How many extensions do you have? 

 Approx 7000 
 
13. What systems does the Trust use for: Switchboard / Operator Console 

 ARC and BTS 



 
 
c. How many positions do you use? 

 15 
 
d. What is the Annual Contract/Maintenance value? 

 These are included within the overall Cisco IPT costs and cannot be disaggregated  
 
14. What systems does the Trust use for: Contact Centre   

 Cisco UCCX 
 
d. How many seats are in use? 
Clarification: The seats is the maximum number of people you have manning the contact centre. 

 150 
 

e. What is the Annual Contract/Maintenance value? 

 These are included within the overall Cisco IPT costs and cannot be disaggregated 
 
15. What systems does the Trust use for: Speech Recognition Auto Attendant and what is the 
Annual Contract/Maintenance value? 

 N/A 
 
16. What systems does the Trust use for: Staff Directory  

 BTE and Proteus 
 
17. What systems does the Trust use for: Call Logging 

 BTE and Proteus 
 
18. Who in the Trust is responsible for these telecoms systems, by Name, Job Title, email 
address? 

 Please see response to question five. 

 
If you have any queries about this response or wish to discuss your request further please 
contact the Freedom of Information Team.  
 
Right to Review 
 
If you are dissatisfied with the handling of your request you have the right to ask for an 
internal review. 
To do this, please email FOIRequests@liverpoolft.nhs.uk and quote the reference number 
above. 
 
If you are not content with the outcome of the internal review, you may apply directly to the 
Information Commissioner for a decision. Generally, the ICO cannot make a decision 
unless you have exhausted the complaints procedure provided by the Trust. The 
Information Commissioner can be contacted at: The Information Commissioner’s Office, 
Wycliffe House, Water Lane, Wilmslow, Cheshire SK9 5AF. 
 
Kind Regards 
 
Freedom of Information Team 
Liverpool University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
FOIRequests@liverpoolft.nhs.uk 

 
 

Please note that any individuals identified do not give consent for their personal data to be 
processed for the purposes of direct marketing.  
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Liverpool University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a public sector body and governed 
by EU law. FOI requestors should note that any new Trust requirements over the EU 
threshold will be subject to these regulations and will be advertised for open competition 
accordingly. 
 

Re-use of Public Sector Information 
 

Where the Trust owns the copyright in information provided, you may re-use the 
information in line with the conditions set out in the Open Government Licence v3 which is 
available at http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/. 
Where information was created by third parties, you should contact them directly for 
permission to re-use the information. 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

